
Chuck Rosenberg, United States Attorney for the Eastern District of Virginia, Michael R. 

Gill and Brian L. Whisler, Assistant United States Attorneys, the defendant, QUANIS L. 

PHILLIPS, and the defendant's counsel have entered into an agreement pursuant to Rule 11 of 

the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure. The terms of the agreement are as follows: 

1. Offense and Maximum Penalties 

The defendant agrees to plead guilty to Count 1 of the indictment charging the defendant 

with Conspiracy to Travel in Interstate Commerce in Aid of Unlawful Activities and to Sponsor a 

Dog in an Animal Fighting Venture, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 371. 

The maximum penalties for the violation of this offense are: a maximum term of 5 years of 

imprisonment, a fine of $250,000, full restitution, a special assessment, and 3 years of supervised 

release. The defendant understands that this supervised release term is in addition to any prison 

term the defendant may receive, and that a violation of a term of supervised release could result 

in the defendant being returned to prison for the full term of supervised release. 



2. Factual Basis for the Plea 

The defendant will plead guilty because the defendant is in fact guilty of the charged 

offense. The defendant admits the facts set forth in the statement of facts filed with this plea 

agreement and agrees that those facts establish guilt of the offense charged beyond a reasonable 

doubt. The statement of facts, which is hereby incorporated into this plea agreement, constitutes 

a stipulation of facts for purposes of Section lB1.2(a) of the Sentencing Guidelines. Pursuant to 

USSG § 5K2.0 and 18 U.S.C. § 3553(b)(l), the parties agree that the underlying facts relating to 

the victimization and execution of pit bull dogs as described in the Statement of Facts creates 

aggravating circumstances not adequately taken into account by the Sentencing Commission in 

formulating the guidelines and that, in order to advance the objectives set forth in 18 U.S.C. § 

3553(a)(2), an upward departure is necessary in this case to achieve the statutory purposes and 

goals of sentencing in this case. Therefore, pursuant to Rule 1 l(c)(l)(B), the parties agree that an 

upward departure to a base offense level of 15 is warranted in this case, and, following 

Acceptance of Responsibility credit pursuant to USSG § 3E1.1, an adjusted offense level of 13. 

The parties agree that neither side will move for departure above or below that offense level, 

except as contemplated by paragraph 13 of this agreement. The government agrees to 

recommend sentencing at the low end of the applicable guideline range, provided the defendant 

fulfills his obligations under this plea agreement. The defendant understands that this agreement 

is merely a recommendation and is not binding on the sentencing judge. 

3. Assistance and Advice of Counsel 

The defendant is satisfied that the defendant's attorney has rendered effective assistance. 

The defendant understands that by entering into this agreement, defendant surrenders certain 



rights as provided in this agreement. The defendant understands that the rights of criminal 

defendants include the following: 

a. the right to plead not guilty and to persist in that plea; 

b. the right to a jury trial; 

c. the right to be represented by counsel - and if necessary have the court 

appoint counsel - at trial and at every other stage of the proceedings; and 

d. the right at trial to confront and cross-examine adverse witnesses, to be 

protected from compelled self-incrimination, to testify and present 

evidence, and to compel the attendance of witnesses. 

4. Role of the Court and the Probation Office 

The defendant understands that the Court has jurisdiction and authority to impose any 

sentence within the statutory maximum described above but that the Court will determine the 

defendant's actual sentence in accordance with 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a). The defendant understands 

that the Court has not yet determined a sentence and that any estimate of the advisory sentencing 

range under the U.S. Sentencing Commission's Sentencing Guidelines Manual the defendant 

may have received from the defendant's counsel, the United States, or the Probation Office, is a 

prediction, not a promise, and is not binding on the United States, the Probation Office, or the 

Court. Additionally, pursuant to the Supreme Court's decision in United States v. Booker, 125 S. 

Ct. 738 (2005), the Court, after considering the factors set forth in 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a), may 

impose a sentence above or below the advisory sentencing range, subject only to review by 

higher courts for reasonableness. The United States makes no promise or representation 

concerning what sentence the defendant will receive, and the defendant cannot withdraw a guilty 

plea based upon the actual sentence. 



5. Waiver of Appeal. 

The defendant also understands that Title 18, United States Code, Section 3742 affords a 

defendant the right to appeal the sentence imposed. Nonetheless, the defendant knowingly 

waives the right to appeal the conviction and any sentence within the statutory maximum 

described above (or the manner in which that sentence was determined) on the grounds set forth 

in Title 18, United States Code, Section 3742 or on any ground whatsoever, in exchange for the 

concessions made by the United States in this plea agreement. This agreement does not affect 

the rights or obligations of the United States as set forth in Title 18, United States Code, Section 

3742(b). 

6. Special Assessment 

Before sentencing in this case, the defendant agrees to pay a mandatory special 

assessment of one hundred dollars ($100.00) per count of conviction. 

7. Payment of Monetary Penalties 

The defendant understands and agrees that, pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, 

Sections 3613, whatever monetary penalties are imposed by the Court will be due and payable 

immediately and subject to immediate enforcement by the United States as provided for in 

Section 3613. Furthermore, the defendant agrees to provide all of his financial information to the 

United States and the Probation Office and, if requested, to participate in a pre-sentencing 

debtor's examination. If the Court imposes a schedule of payments, the defendant understands 

that the schedule of payments is merely a minimum schedule of payments and not the only 

method, nor a limitation on the methods, available to the United States to enforce the judgment. 

If the defendant is incarcerated, the defendant agrees to participate in the Bureau of Prisons' 



Inmate Financial Responsibility Program, regardless of whether the Court specifically directs 

participation or imposes a schedule of payments. 

8. Restitution for Offense of Conviction 

The defendant agrees to the entry of a Restitution Order for the full amount of any victim 

losses determined by the Court at the time of sentencing. 

9. Immunity from Further Prosecution in this District 

The United States will not further criminally prosecute the defendant in the Eastern 

District of Virginia for the specific conduct described in the statement of facts or for the other 

nonviolent conduct the government has knowledge of at the time of this agreement. 

10. Defendant's Cooperation 

The defendant agrees to cooperate fully and truthfully with the United States, and provide 

all information known to the defendant regarding any criminal activity as requested by the 

government. In that regard: 

a. The defendant agrees to testify truthfully and completely at any grand 

juries, trials or other proceedings. 

b. The defendant agrees to be reasonably available for debriefing and pre-

trial conferences as the United States may require. 

c. The defendant agrees to provide all documents, records, writings, or 

materials of any kind in the defendant's possession or under the 

defendant's care, custody, or control relating directly or indirectly to all 

areas of inquiry and investigation. 
















